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REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF THE MANAGEMENT COMPANY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Dear Investor,
On behalf of the Board of Directors, 1 am pleased to present Pakistan Capital Market

Fund’s accounts review for the year ended June 30, 2024.

Economy Review

Fiscal year 2024 marked a perniod of macroeconomic recovery for Pakistan, averling a
looming default brought about by continued economic mismanagement. This turnaround
was primuarily atiributed to Pakistan entering a new IMF program after several months of
delay. The governmenl secured a much-needed Stand-by Armmangement (SBA) facility of
USD 3.0 billion from the IMF in June 23, and managed to receive timely rollovers from
friendly countries. It also showed unwavering commitment to remain compliant with the
IMF targets and as a result government was able to successfully complete the program.

The caretaker government took office in August 2023 and immediately faced speculative
pressure on the currency, causing il to spike to a record high of 307 in the interbank
market. Exchange rale in informal market reached a higher of near 330 PKR/USD
reflecting an increase of speculative activity and rampant uncertainty. The government
took decisive sleps against smuggling of dollar, abuse of Afghan Transit and illegal
money dealers in September 2023, which spurred a rapid recovery in the exchange rate.
This helped in improving confidence and narrower spreads in open and interbank rates.
The authorities also placed mechanisms to strictly monitor exchange rate payments to
maniage the overall external balance. Combination of both admimstration measures and
steps to discipline external and fiscal accounts helped restore overall stability. The USD
PKR close the year at 278.3 appreciating by 2.6% since Lhe start of the year.

Country posted a current account deficit (CAD) of USD 464 million in the first eleven
months of the fiscal year 2024 (11MFY24) declhining by 88% YoY compared to a deficit
of USD 3.8 billion in the corresponding period last year. Narrowing trade deficit was the
major contributor towards improving CAD as 11.3% increase in exports coupled with an
2.3% drop in imports led to a 17.0% contraction in the trade deficil. The county’s
external position improved with SBIs foreign exchange reserves increasing to USD 9.4
billion as of June 2024 compared to USD 4.4 billion at the end of last fiscal year. This

was on account of flows from the IMFE, friendly countries and multilateral sources.

Headline inflation represented by CPl averaged 23.9% during the fiscal year 2024
compared to 29.0% last year. Inflation remained on the higher side as massive currency
depreciation in the prior periods led to surge in food and energy prices. The government
also hiked electricity base tanff and gas prices to comply with the IMF conditions, which
led to further inflationary pressures. The SBP reduced the policy rate by 150bps to 20.5%
in the last monetary policy of the year held on June 10, 2024. The monetary policy noted
a significant decline in inflation, resulting in a substantially positive real interest rate,
which justifies initiating a monetary easing cycle.

The country’s GDP grew by 2.4% in the financial year 2023-24 as compared to -0.2%
last year. Agriculture grew by 6.3%. Services and industrial sector witnessed a paliry
increase of 1.2% each. Historic high interest rates coupled with political uncertainty were
the major culprits behind the subdued industrial and services output. On the fiscal side,
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FBR tax collection increased by 29.6% in FY24 to PKR 9,285 hillion, missing the target
by a modest PKR 130 bilhion.

Equity Market Review

The stock market witnessed exuberance in fiscal year 2024, as the benchmark KSE-100
increased by staggering 89.2% or 36,992 points, to close at all time high ol 78,445 points.
This also makes Pakistan the best performing market in the world with USD return of
94.4% 1n the year.

The bullish momentum continued throughout the year was on account of improvement in
macroeconomic indicators afier Pakistan entered into the new IMF program. Market
participants also cheered the successful completion of all IMF reviews under SBA.
Moreover, the successful conclusion of elections in February 2024 brought long due
clarity amongst investors. In addition, reaffirmation by the incumbent government to
continue structural reforms, along with the intention to enter a longer IMF program,
further uplified sentiment. Lastly, the strength of the local currency post-crackdown on
currency smuggling and hoarding, sirong corporate profitability, increase in taxes on
other asset classes in the budget FY25, and start of monetary easing with 150bps cut, all
contribuied to the sustainable rally.

During FY24, Foreign investors, Insurance, and Corporates were net buyers with an
inflow of USD 141 million, USD 126 million and USD 36 million, respectively. While
major selling was witnessed rom Banks and Mutual Funds with outflow of USD 141
million and USD 48 million, respectively. During FY24, average trading volumes for
KSE-All Index saw an imcrease ol 140.4% to 461 million shares compared to about 191
million shares in the same period last year. Similarly, the average trading value during the
period saw a rise of 118.5% over previous year to near USD 55 million.

Banking, Fertilizer, and E&P sector were the major contributors to the index gain adding
13.262/5.074/4,300points, respectively. Banking sector witnessed broad based rally as
entry into the IMF program diminished the probability of local debt restructuring besides
strong profitability. Fertilizer sector performed due to better than expected dividends
while E&P rallied due to the news ol clearance ol gas circular debt, which would
improve the sector cash flows.

FUND PERFORMANCE

During the period under review, the fund posted a return of 71.54% compared to the
return of 72.96% posted by the benchmark.

On the equities fronl, the overall allocation stood at 68.2%. The exposure was mainly

held in Commercial Banks and Cement.

On the fixed income side. the fund maintained its exposure towards cash to benefit from
attractive rates offered by banks.

The Net Assets ol the Fund as at June 30, 2024 stood at Rs. 520 million as compared Lo
Rs. 333 mullion as at June 30, 2023 registering an increase ol 56.16%.
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The Net Asset Val ue (NAV) per unil as at June 30, 2024 was Rs. 17.11 as compared to
opening NAV of Rs. 11.02 per unit as at June 30, 2023 showing an increase of Rs. 6.09
per unit.

Economy & Market — Future Qutlook

Pakistan GDP is expected to rebound to 3.5% in FY25 after a disappointing performance
last year where the GDP increased by only 2.4%. The outlook for industrial output is
relatively optimistic with an expected growth of 4.0% compared to 1.2% last year
Macroeconomic stability, stable currency and decline in interest rates will help revive the
industrial and service sector growth. Agriculture performance is likely to remain on the
lower side due to high base effect.

A new staflf-level loan agreement has been reached between Pakistan and the
International Monetary Fund (IMF) under which the country will receive USD 7.0 billion
over 37 months. The final approval of the loan will be given by the IMF Executive
Board. Successful continuation ol the IMF program is a key positive as it will allow us to
tap funding from bilateral and multilateral sources. However, our external position still
remains precarious due to debt outflows and our inability to raise funds through
international Eurobond or Sukuk. Thuos, we would continue (o run a sustamable current
account this year to stave off external concerns. We expect a CAD of USD 1.0 billion
(0.2% of GDP) in FY25 as policy of consohidation 1s likely to continue under the IMF
umbrella.

The USD PKR is expected to remain stable as the government is focusing on improving
current account deficit on the back of recovery in export and remittances. Entry into the
new IMF program will also increase wvisibility on the external funding. We expect
USD/PKR to close the fiscal year around PKR 311.

The inflation reading has started to come down due to base effect and relatively stable
currency. The headline inflation number in June 2024 clocked of 12.6% compared to a
high of 38.0% in May 2023, The core inflation also registered a significant slowdown,
clocking at 14.1% which is a low of 23 months. The inflation reading is expected to
decline to single digits in 1HFY25. Keeping in view the inflationary trends, external and
fiscal position we expect interest rate to decline to 14-15% by June 25.

From the capital market perspective particularly eguities, the market is still trading at
cheap valuations. Market cap to GDP ratio 1s at 9.8%. a discount of 48% [rom ils
historical average of 18.9%. Similarly, Eaming Yield minus Risk Free Rate is close to
7.2%, compared to the histonical average of 3.0% signifying a deep discount at which the
market is trading. The resolution of challenges on external account will help to unlock
markel potential. We believe a micro view ol sectors and stocks will remain important
and mnvestment selection should focus on companies, which trade at a deep discount to
their intrinsic value. The market is currently trading at PER of 4.7x, while offering a
dividend yield of 11.2%.

For debt holders, we expect Money Markel Funds Lo continue to seamlessly mirror policy
rates throughout the year. Investors with a mid to long term view can benefit from Bond
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and Income Funds where higher duration will create opportunities for capital gains in the
wake of Interest rate outlook. We have added government bonds in Income Funds to
benefit from the expected monetary easing in the near term.

Mutual Fund Industry Review

The Net Assets of the open-end mutual funds industry increased by about 64.6% during
FY24 to PKR 2,574 billion. Total money market funds grew by about 45.0% since June
2023. Within the money market sphere, conventional funds showed a growth of 33.0% to
PKR 629 bhillion while Islamic funds increased by 538 2% to PKR 679 billion. In addition.
the total fixed Income funds increased by about 104.7% smce June 2023 to PKR 756
billion while Equity and related funds increased by 52.3% to PKR 255 billion.

In terms of the segment share, Money Market funds were the leader with a share of
around 50.8%, followed by Income funds with 37.3% and Equity and Equity related
funds having a share of 9.9%, as at the end of June 30, 2024.

Mutual Fund Industry OQutlook

Both Bonds and Equities are likely to do well in the next year on the back of cut in
interest rates. During the vear, significant interest of investors is already wvisible in
Income Funds while equity fund is likely to see inflows post new IMF agreement.
Relatively High interest rates during the period would encourage sustained flows in the
money market funds as they are ideal for investors with a short-term horizon and low risk
profile.

Our operations remained seamless and given our competitive edge in digital access and
online customer experience, we are prepared to get benefits of the growing number of
investors available online.

MANAGEMENT COMPANY

On April 18, 2023, MCB Bank Limited (MCB), being the parent company of MCB-Anf
Habib Savings and Investments Limited., has acquired 21,664,167 (30.09%) shares of
MCB-Anf Habib Savings & Investment Limited (MCB-AH) from Anf Habib
Corporation Limited (AHCL). By wvirtue of this transaction MCB Bank Limited’s
shareholding in MCB-AH has increased from 36,956,768 (51.33%) shares to 58,620.935
(#1.42%) and AHCL no longer holds any shares in MCB-AH.

Consequently, members of the Company in an Extra Ordinary General Meeting (EOGM)
held on July 07, 2023 have resolved wvia special resolution that the name of the Company
be changed from MCB-Arif Habib Savings and Investments Limited to MCB Investment
Management Limited and Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECI) has
approved the change in name on August 15, 2023,
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Fund is committed to implement the highest standards of corporate governance. The
Board comprises of eight (8) members including the Chief Executive Officer (CEQ) and
has a diverse mix of gender and knowledge. The Board consists of 1 female and 7 male
directors, categonzed as follows:

o <4 Non — Executive Directors;
* 3 Independent Directors; and
s 1 Executive Director (CEO).

The details of above are as under:

Sr. : z Membership in other Board
Name Status Z 3
No. Committees
1. Mr. Haroun Rashid Non-Executive Director None
2.  Mr. Shoaib Mumtaz Non-Executive Director HR&R* Committee
* :
3. Mr. Ahmed Jahangir Non-Executive Director HRE.{R., Lumlﬂm
Audit Commuittee
4. Mr. Manzar Mushtag Non-Executive Director Audit Committee
5. Syed . Sayail  Meckn) Independent Director Audit Committee (Chairman)
Hussain
6.  Mr. Fahd Kamal Chinoy Independent Director HR&R* Committee (Chairman)
7. Ms. Mavra Adil Khan Independent Director HR&R* Committee
8. gtth ey  Fhall Executive Director HR&R* Committee

* HR&R stands for Human Resource and Remuneration
Management is continuing to comply with the provisions of best practices set out in the
code of corporate governance. The Fund remains committed to conduct business in line
with listing regulations of Pakistan Stock Exchange, which clearly defined the role and
responsibilities of Board of Directors and Management.

The Board of Directors is pleased to report that:

a. The financial statements, present fairly the state of affairs, the results of operations,
cash flows and changes in equity;

b. Proper books of accounts of the fund have been mantamned:;
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c. Appropriate accounting policies as stated i the notes to the financial statements
have been consistently applied n preparation of fnancial statements and
accounting estimates are based on reasonable and prudent judgment;

d. International Financial Reporting Standards. as applicable in Pakistan, provisions of
the Non-Banking Finance Companies (Establishment & Regulations) Rules, 2003,
MNon-Banking Fmance Compamies and Notified Entities Regulations, 2008,
requirements of the respective Trust Deeds and directives tssued by the Securities
& Exchange Commssion of Pakistan have been lollowed in the preparation of

financial statements.;

e. The systemm ol mmtermmal control 15 sound 1n design and has been effectively
implemented and monitored with ongoing efforts to improve it further;

f. There are no significant doubts wpon the fund’s ability to continue as poing
CONCErn;

g. There has been no material departure from the best practices of Corporate
Governance, as detailed in the histing regulations;

h. The outstanding taxes. statutory charges and duties, 1f any, have been fully
disclosed m the audited financial statements;

i. The statement as to the value of investments of provident/gratuity and pension fund
15 not applicable on the Fund bul applies to the Management Company; hence no
disclosure has been made in the Directors” Report.

3. As at June 30, 2024, the Company is in compliance with the requirements of
Directors’ Training Program, as contained in Regulation No. 20 of the Code:

k. The detailed pattern of shareholding as on June 30, 2024 is annexed;

l. A formal and effective mechanism 1s pul in place for an annual evaluation of the
Board’s own performance. members of the Board and Committees of the Board;

m. The details of attendance of Board of Directors meeting 1s disclosed in financial
statements. Below are the details of commitiee meetings held dunng the year ended

June 30, 2024:
1. Meeting of the Audit Committee.

During the wear, four (4) meetings ol the Audit Commiltee were held. The
altendance of each participant 1s as follows:
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| Number | Number of meectings |
of
Name of Persons (e Attcnn?nnce Attended Leave
held required granted
1 Syed ':_:avml Meekal 4 4 4 0
Hussain
2. Mr. Ahmed Jahangir 4 E 4 0
3. Mr Manzar Mushtag 4 4 4 0

2. Meeting of the Human Resource and Remuneration Committee.

During the year, two (2) meeting of the Human Resource and Remuneration
Committee were held. The attendance of each participant is as follows:

Number of meetings

Number |
Name of Persons ui: | A!tcm!ante Attended Leave
meetings required granted
: Mr. Fahd Kamal
. Chinoy 2 2 2 -
2. Mr. Shomib Mumtaz 2 2 2 -
1. Mr. Ahmed Jahangir 2 2 1
4 Ms. Mavra Adil
. Khan 2 2 1 1

n. No trades in the Units of the Fund were carried out during the year by Directors,
Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer.
Company Secretary. and Chief Internal Auditor of the Management Company and
their spouses and minor children.

EXTERNALAUDITORS

The Fund’s external auditor’s M/s. BDO Chartered Accountants have retired afier
completion of audit for Financial Year ended June 30, 202 4. The Audit Commuittee has
recommended re-appointment of M/s. BDO Chartered Accountants as external auditors
of the Fund for financial year ending June 30, 2025 and the Board has also endorsed the
recommendation of the Audit Committee. M/s. BDO Chartered Accountants also
expressed their willingness to act as the Fund’s external auditors.
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REPORT OF THE FUND MANAGER
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Fund Type and Category
Pakistan Capital Market Fund (PCMF) is an Open-End Balanced Scheme

Fund Benchmark

The benchmark tor Pakistan Capital Market Fund is KSE 100 Index and 5ix (6) months KIBOR rates on the
basis of actual proportion held by the Scheme

Invesiment Objective

The objective of the Fund is to maximize returns available from Pakistan's capital market by investing the
Fund Property in equity as well as debt instruments while diversifying the risk within the market.

Investment Strategy

Pakistan Capital Market Fund (PCM) is an open-end balanced fund that invests in a range of asset classes
such as equity and debt in Pakistani market. The asset allocation to equities and debt is made on the basis of
relative attractiveness of each asset class. The investment process is driven by fundamental research. For
equities investment, fundamental outlook of sectors/companies and DCF (Discounted Cash Flow) valuations
are the primary factors in sectors’ allocation and stock selection. For debt investment, interest rate outlook is
the key determining factor and allocation to this segment 15 increased when the yields are comparatively
higher compared to the total refurns on equities. Investment is made in corporate bonds (investment grade)
and government bonds. Cash is kept in deposits with highly rated banks. PCM is a long only Fund and cannot
undertake leveraged investments. Under the NBFC Rules, it is only allowed to bormrow up to 15% of net assets
tor up to 90 days to meet redemption needs.

Manager’s Review

During the period under review, the fund posted a retum of 71.54% compared to the return of 72.96% posted
by the benchmark.

At the period end, allocation towards equities stood at 63.2% while 29.4% was in cash. The exposure was
mainly held in Commercial Banks, Cements and Pharmaceuticals.

The Net Assets of the Fund as at June 30, 2024 stood at Rs. 520 million as compared to Rs. 333 million as at
June 30, 2023 registering a increase of 56.16%. The Net Asset Value (NAV) per unit as at June 30, 2024 was
Rs. 17.11 as compared to opening NAV of Rs. 11.02 per unit as at June 30, 2023 showing an increase of Rs.
6.09 per unit.

Asset Allocation as on June 30, 2024 (% of total assets)

Assel Allocation (%saoe of Totnl Assets) Jun-24
Cash 2045
Stocks [ Equitics 6E.2%
Others including receivables 2.4%
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REPORT OF THE FUND MANAGER
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Asset Allocation as on June 30, 2024 (%% of total assets)

Other Assets
2.4%

Commercial Banks
20.6%

Cemant

Cash
79.0% 4

Fharmaceuticals
9,2%

Crher Seciais

13,9% extila Compiasils

Prwwer Generation o o5
& Distribution
4 6%

Asset Quality as on June 30, 2024 (% of total assets)

AAR A%

Afe 252%

Not Rated
70.6%

Syed Abid Ali
Fund Manager
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TRUSTEE REPORT TO THE UNIT HOLDERS

CENTRAL DEPOHTORY COMPANY
OF PAKIETAN LUBHTED

He=d Offie:

= Mpias D08 [N "Rl
ML AL b Fahlse-f e
L Tetil I

i { i |

B - T ]
LI g j
Ef Sy

-5

I,
b AR V)

TRUSTEE REFORT TO THE UNIT HOLDER>
PARKISTAN CAPITAL MARKET FUND

Report of the Trustee pursuant to Regulation 41(h) and clause 8 of Schedule V of
the Non-Banking Finance Companics and Notified Entities Regulations, 2008

We Cantmal Depomtory Company of Makimtan Tamial, being the Trastes of Pakistan
Capimal Market Fund (the Fund) are of the opinkin that MOB Investment Mansgemen
Limited bemg the Management Company of the Fund haw in all materinl respecis
managed the Fand during the yesr ended June 30, 2024 m accordance with the
provmiimm ol the ri1||-~-.-.-||1-,;

{1} Limtntions imposcd on the myvestmend powers of The Munagemenl Company
under the constitutive documents of the Fund;

{x) The pricing, ismtimes - and redemplion of urmis sro corred ol i Secendsnee with
the requirements of the constitutive documents of the Fund;

()  Themamagemeil oo, fee pavible o Comimission snd other expeénses paid frant
the Fund during the pericd are in accordance with the applicable regulistory
framework: and

(iv}  The Nun-Bunking Fiance Companies (Establishment and Regulations) Rules.
2003, the Non-Hanking Finnmnee Companies and Notified Entities Regalations,
R wnd the constitutte doooments of tThe: Fond

#
\,\ Mrﬂh‘-'l J_f

Badindidin Akher

Chiel Executive OfMicer

Central Depository Company of Pakstan Limited

Kaurngi; September 30, 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE UNIT HOLDERS

IBDO i

s AT Bl i} !
—————

ISOEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REFORT OM THE ALDIT OF THE FINAMCLLL STATEMENTS TO THE UMNIT HOLDERS”
OF PAMISTAN CAFTAL MARKET FuUsD

Crpkrviom

Wie faee audited the francisd ttatements of Paldetan Capital Market Fund | "the Furd®), which comprite the
watement of adsets and liabdlither & at June 30, 1004, ad ihe income statenenl, Lhe statemont of
comprebeniive infome, the watement of movement in et holders” fund and The statement of cath Nows for
ihe year then ended, aosd nioles (o e Peancial slatesnents, including material sccointing pedicy dnfoemat|on

LN ﬂiﬂnl:‘lﬁ. g ALCOTPaEiRing 'H'\II'L'Lll FlELg ey pl‘i':-rrlt 'I'lel,'_ i 8l matariad rt':q:-éf_h._ the 1iRaRELEl
pEdiblon of the Fund & at Jone 10, 2034, and s linancisl performsence and 13 casts fows for the pear then
e i ACCordincd with ﬂlit.t.'l.lrlll'l! arsd r|.||.::tlu-r|1 SLaraarcs m ADM cable in Pakigkay

Rais for aplmnon

We corsiucted our audit wn aocordancs with intermational Standasds on Avditing [[Shs) o applicahile i Pakisan
Our responibilivies under thoso standandy are further described in the Auditor's Responaibainios for U Audt
of the Financial Statements tection of our report. We sre independenl of Lhe Fund 6 accofdance with [he
tntwrmateanad Ethicy Slandtards Bosrd for dccountanty” Code of Ethics for Profassionsl Accountants & sdopled by
the institute of Chartered: Accountants of Pakistsn (the Code), and we haee folflled our obher ethical
fespuanaiil it (h sccnrdance with 1 Code We beliyi Uat the dudit svidencd s hive oblene iy sl ot
and aporopraie 1 provide @ basis for our epined,

Koy Ausit Matters

Ry Al malier ste Uhote mattes thal, in sur prafeddlonsl pedgment, wers al mos signiteance in owr gudiy
of the fmancial stetements of the current year. These mast én were addiessed in' the cortent o our sudit of
e Tinaod|nl statementt 54 3 whale ard in forming aur opinion theredn, and we 4o not provide d weparste
coapine oo Uhete matier

Following are the Koy audit matters:

SNO | Koy audit matter(s) | Hiow the matter was addressed in our sudit
1 Fastence and valuation af nvestments [ Dnat it precederes mcluded Le 1| iowing 1
& disclesed w1 note & 1o the financlal Matements |« We  evpleaias the i e
@l the Fund for the year ended June X, (024, the implementation = key  contiols  owet
wveulments held By Fund comprsed of eguity investment, and  tecred  coftrol el

BOO Elrakeim

Etrusenty anounting to Ba Y WL millon
which represents VI of the Net doset Veloe
AW ol L Fuinil

Ay these  wvestmenls represenl o gl icant
Ftoment of the slal=mest of asedi s
babilities, mny dncreparcy o e valuation or
Erntends of mvertmonts could causl the MAY Lo
b rterially msstatod

Charterad Accountants

ECao

562

scgqunnion, Spotsls ewd penodie valuatan
o invesiments portfolin

We pitrfanmed subslandive it procetuned
on year-end balange of sguily tnaments
inciuding rewiew of custodibn’s gatement,
related reCorcili@iony and re-perforirance
of wisluation bases on thare prices from the
Pakitan Slock Dt hange |PLX)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE UNIT HOLDERS

IBDO

[AN0 | ey sudit mattery) =

| How the malter wits sddretsad b our audit

I view ol the wirificance of these (rvestments | @ We metsed the Fund's compliance with the

in redation to the Fund's total assets and HAY, we Mor-Barking  Finarce  Companies  and
cantidered the existence and veluation of wich Motified Entities Regulations, 008 (the KFC
v estments as @ key sudit mattes Regulationi) n relation 1o the Mveltment

ronoentration and orposure bmits

= We alin evaluasted the sdecquacy of the
nverall  diclmures i the  Financinl
satements in respect of the ewestmenl,
ermuning compliance  with  the  MAFC
Beguistiont and the relevant sccounting
recuitements.

Intormation ol Chan the financial statemen s and sudibor s fepart the fean

Mansgemient |4 respamible for the other information, The atlier (nfoemalion compriie the linfonmaiion ingluded
w1 the Anmasl Heport but does not mciuse the financal statements and our auditor’ s report therearn, Cur opinkon
it thee financial siatemenis doss nol coved the pther informalion and we do not express sy form of sssuiance
conchssion therson, B conpecton with our audit of the Mmascial stalements Sur rsgpoasibiing 1 to read the
other information and, o doing 0, comider wheliver the other infarmaton s matenally Scomisient with the
financal satements or olr knowladge ohtained b6 the sedll, o otheiwive sppesis (o be malerially mrstated
If, based on the work we have porformed, wo conclude that thore 15 3 matenal misstaternent of this otfer
nformation, we are reguired W0 repoart that Tact, We haee nothing o repart in this regard

Respormsiilities of Lhe Management Compeny and iCs Board of Directors

wanapement b respomible for the preparation ané fair prosentatton af the (manciel Balements in sccordante
with the requiressents of the Mon-Ranking Fingnce Compan e (Extabtshment and Regulation) Rules, 1003 (NBFC
Bules), the Man-Banking Firance Compardes and Motified Entdbes Regulotsons, 008 (the NBFL Regulationd| ane
acoommiting and reporting wandedy & appbcabie 0 Pakistan and for such intirnad control a5 management
determines necestary to enable the preparation of linontinl wtatements hat are froe fros material
milsstalement, whether due Lo raud o erroe

I preparing (he financial atemeniy, Mansgement {3 resporible lor assesxing the Fund®s ability Lo continee as
a going conoern, dischesing, as applicable, matters relatsd to going concern and wmg the going concerm bash
of pocounting unlesy manasgeinent € ther Intends 1o [Kuidate the Fund or to caaw operatond, o has no realitic
alternat ive but Lo doso

The Beard af Deeclon of the managemeil daifipany b issponaible for oversesing the Fund's fmancial reparting
oo

Auditor's respontibilities for the audit of the financial statemments

Ol objeciives 30e (o abtan resonable arince sbout whethir (he linancisl tatements A & whols are lree
from materal mastatement, whether due Lo fracd o error, and Lo tssue A suditors report Thal mciudes ool
ofyimion

Repsonibie assrance g high level of asjerance, but 1 not a guaranter that an audit conducted M accondance
wibh By as appiscable i Pakiatan will slways detect & imaleetsl imisatatement when (1 el Maslabesments £ sn
artse from fraad o error and are considered materal of, individuaily or in the sggregate, they could reaspsably
be Eapected [o influene e the sconmnilc decivions of wsers Eslen on the basin af theewe Tinar ial satpminnty

Page - 1

BOO Ehrahim & Co. Chartered Accountants
BEXY Ui i Pl P gfiip = & i L& AT pie way| T 1
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE UNIT HOLDERS

|IBDO

As part of an sudit i accordarce with [hAs A4 applicable in Pekntan, we exercise profétuional jusjiment e}
inainlain professions! skeptickam (hroughout (he audit. ‘We alio

e identify and ssses The risks of material mastatement of the fnancial staternents, whether due o fraud o
erven, devgn and perlorm audit procedures responsbe Lo Thoe riake, and obtain sl evidence thal n
sufficient and appropeiste to peovide a besh for ooy cpirdon. The risk af not delecting & mabestal
riAt et et resulitmg from Trad |s higher thian for ora rosuting from errar, s Iriud may invotve cellindon,
forgery, mtentional armlssan, misrepresentationg, or the override af internal control.

«  Obtaln an understanding of intersal conlrol relevant 09 the sudil 0 ofdes Lo design sudit procedures Lhat
ane appropeiate i the clroumstances, but sal fon e purpese of sspressing an apsaian oo the effecivenen
of the Managesmernd Company’'s Mtomal control

¢  Cvslume the sporopnatensss of accounting potaies wied arel the reatnabdencss of accountmg eltimate
and retated darloures made by the Mansgement Company

s Conclude on (B approprstenss of the Management Company's use of the going concerm Basls of accounting
and, based oo the audit evidence oblamied, whillier & matarial uncertainty exaty related (o evenit o
conditiony (hat may cast significant doubt on the Fusd's ability to contmoe a3 8 goey concein, |1 we
comclude that 3 material uncertainty exiily, we are requined to draw atieniion in oo sudifor's feport to
live related diclosures i the Boanciul stetaments of, Il such daclouwrey ate wadeguate, to modily o
apivion. Our concluskons are based on the sudil evidence obtained up 1o the date of our puditar’s report
Heowiever, lulure svents or conditions miy Chuee Ehe Fund to ceave o conlinues 8% & going cohdern

s [valuate the oversll preseniation, structice and coobent of the fmancial stataments, mchuding he
diszlosures, and whether the financial sistements reresent the underhying trandaction. and evenls & &
e that schieves Tav prowntation

We communicate with the Board of Directors of the Management Company reganding, amoig elher matlers, the
plasied scope and Liming of the sudit snd sigmificant st Timdings, Includng any sgnifcant ded koo e in
internal control that we dentify duning owr Budil

Wi 3l prowvide the Board of Directors of the Managernent Company with a stetement that we have compled
with redevant ethical reguirements regarding ndependence, and to cofmmupicate with them all relatsonsign

#nd other matten that may ressonably be thought (o bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
wleguands.

Froem the matters commuoricatad with 1he Board of Dractons of the Managemenl Company, we determne thowe
muiiers that wisre ol miot significance s Lhe sudid of the financial statements of the Cuirenl period and we
(herpfore (b Wiy audit matiers, We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless bw or regudation
perechides pubillc dicloore shaut the matter or when, (h extremely rare Clrcumbancey, se detennine tht a
matter should not be communicated m our report becalse the adverse comeguences of dolng o weuld
reatonably e sxpecied 1o oulwoigh The public ineceit benielity of sech communsalion

Rognart on other begal and regulatory requirements

Based on our audht, we further report, that in our spinden the Faancial walsmenty have been propared in all
materisl respecty in pcoordance with the roleaant provisiany of the BIFC rules, the MEFC Reguiations and the
Truni Dewd

Page - 1

BOO Ebrmhim B Co. Chartered ACOounTants

T — i it I | el & B ey | by
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE UNIT HOLDERS

IBDO

Other Matter

The fmancial statements of the Fund for the y2ar ended June 30, 2023 were sudited by anctner firmaf Chartered
Aecountants, who expietied an unmiodified eplaten theraan vide thelr report dated Sefptember 71, 2023

The eogapement partrer on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report (s Tang Feroz Khan
C
FARACHI &aa 4"‘?‘"’#‘1.-\; {
i EDD EBRAMM & COD,
oatec: 03 OCT 2024 CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

UDIH: ARZOZ4101 ehchblrin W

Pege - 4
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STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

AS AT JUNE 30, 2024
2024 2023
Note {(Rupees in "(HH0)

ASSETS

Balances with banks 5 157,443 47,311

Invesiments 6 365,368 298 966

Dividend and profit receivables 7 2.942 1,756

Advances, deposits and other receivables 8 0,921 4,928
Total assets 535674 352 961
LIABILITIES

Payable to MCB Investments Management Limited -

Management Company 9 1,924 1,073
Payable to Central Depository Company of Pakistan Limited - Trustee 10 96 65
Payable to the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan 11 36 70
Payable against purchase of investment 2 660 8,720
Payable against redemption of units 216 216
Acerued and other liabilities 12 10,375 0.822

Total liabilities 13,307 19.966
NET ASSETS 520,367 332,995
Unit holders' lund (as per stalement attached) . 520367 332 995
Contingencies and commilmenits 13
{(MNumber of uniis)
NUMBER OF UNITS IN ISSUE 30,406,586 30207113
(Rupees) ——
NET ASSET VALUE PER UNIT 17.11 11.02
The annexed notes from 1 Lo 30 form an integral part of these financial stalements.
For MCB Investment Management Limited
(Management Company)
o ol ! MSM 'muaﬂiﬂ.ﬂ—
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer Director
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INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

024 2023
Mote ——— (Ruopees in "000) ————
INCOME
Capital main / loss on sale of investmenis - net 93 451 (B R53)
Hividend income 24843 24 529
Income fom povernment scounbics 2 K25 4505
Income from term fnance certi Dol - 9
Profit on bank deposits 24 395 15,200
Income on deposit with NOCPL spainst exposome muirm 288 12
Unrealised appreciation ! dimimution on re-measaroment of imvestments
clesnfied as financial assets at for valee throogh profit or loss - net 6.3 102,430 (5,619)
Total income 245,232 30,002
EXPENSES
Remuneration of MCEB Investments Managemoent Lmited Manypement
Company 9.1 13,625 11,790
Sindh sales e on remuneration of the Manssement Company 92 1,71 1,533
Allocated cxpenses 93 375 352
Seltimg and marketing expenses 9.4 1,246 -
Remuneration of Central Depository Company of Pakistan Limited
- Trustes 11 BT 719
Sindh sales tax on remuncration of the ustes 1oz 115 93
Annual fee to the Sccuntics and Exchonge Commssion of Poakiston i} Ei T
Securities transaction costs 1363 1,184
Settlement und bank charpey 4u8 452
Fees and subscription - 7
Auditors' remuneration 15 741 925
Prmting and related costs 33 40
Legnl and professional chorges 191 174
Total cxpenses (21.197) (17,389)
Net meome for the vear before taxation 227,035 12613
I'xation 16 - -
Net income for the year after iaxation 237,035 12613
Allocation of net income for the yeur:
Met moome for the vear 227,034 12613
Income already pod on omits redecmed {40,457) {4401}
186,578 12212
Accounting income available for distribution:
- Relating to capital gaims 195 846 12212
- Excluding capital gaims 9.264 -
186578 | E 12
Esrmings per omit 17
e annexed notes from 1 o 30 form an mtegral part of these finanoal ststemenis.
For MCB Investment Management Limited
{Management Company)
- ,«"'H’_— A,
s L ' MJ%M ’Waﬂin‘ﬂ—
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer Director
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STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

2024 2023
(Rupees in "000) ——
Net income for the year after taxation 227.035 12613
Other comprehensive income for the year - -
Total comprehensive income for the year 227035 12,613

The annexed notes from | o 30 form an integral part of these financial statements.

For MCB Investment Management Limited
(Management Company)

= ,,-"".::' A,
- .--..___..-' -_.- o ] A
P M Muﬁéu ﬂmﬁin‘v—

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer Director
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STATEMENT OF MOVEMENT IN UNIT HOLDERS' FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

MNet asscis at beginning of the yoar

Issmanee of 12827286 omits (2023: 1,130,708 umix)
Camital value

Eloment of moome

Amouni received on issuance of umnils

Redemption of 12,627,813 units (2023:6, 764,139 umits)
Caprtal valuc
Element of {loss) / income

Amount pad/ payable on redemption of umis

Total comprehensive moome for the year
IDnsinbution dunng the year
MNet moome for the year less distnbution

Mt wssets at end of the year

Undistributed income brought forward comprising of:
- Realised
- Unrealised

Accounting income available for disiribotion
- Helating to capital gams
- Excluding capital gams

[hstnbution dunng the year

Undisiributed income carvied Terward

Undistribufed income earried Torward comprising of:
- Realmed moome
- Unreahsed moome’ (boss)

Met wuzet value per umi at beginming of the year

Met avset value per umt ol end of the vear

2024 INZ3
Capital l.ind.i!‘l.rilllll.l.‘ Total Capital Unl{iﬂﬁhﬂr Total
valur d imcomc valoe d income
(Rupees in *0H)
311,562 21,433 332,995 172388 Y271 3K1609
136226 S 136,226 12042 = 12042
54547 . 5K.547 53 - 53
194,773 = 194,773 12,005 = 12,005
(134,107 - | n0m 72,034 - 72,038
(563299 (40457 | (56,369) §43 401 1,284
(190.436)  (40,457)  (190476) 72,921 = 73.322
- 227034 227.034 - 12613 12,613
(16,966) (26,993  (43.459) - A 2
{16.968) 200,041  IR3075
339,350 181,017 520367 311,562 21,433 332,995
27 052 44,947
{5,619) 15,726
21433 9221
195 546 1221z
(9,269} -
186577 12,212
{26,993) -
|H1!{II? 21!43-3
TRSRT 27.052
102,430 (5.619)
EHIIUIT 31i433
(Rupees) {Rupees)
11.02 1064
% %

The ammcxed notes from 1w 30 form an micgral part of these fmancisl statements:

For MCB Investment Management Limited

{Management Company)
._-..‘:-'-"";-‘f_,;.-‘.";:-:"{?. -‘-.-*'.:' ¥
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
569
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

024 2023
Note {Rupees in "0}
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net imecome for the year belore taxation 227,034 12613
Adjustments for non-cash and other items:
Dividend meome (24,843) (24,529)
Unrealised diminuiion on re-measurement of investments
classificd as 'financial assets at i value through profit or loss' - net (1024309 5,619
99,761 (6.297)
Decrease / (increase) in assels
Investments 36,028 110,110
Dividend and profit receivables (1,186) (1.,028)
Advances, deposits and other receivable (4.,993) (138)
29 8449 108,944
{Decrease) / increase in liabilities
Payible 1o MCB  Investments management Limited - Management
Company 851 (170)
Payable 1o Central Depository Company of Pakistan Limited - Trustee 31 (7
Payable 1o the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (34) {(19)
Payable against purchase ol investment (6,060) (21,781)
Accroed and other habilines 333 172
(4.659) (21,805)
Dividend received 24 843 24 529
Net cash flows from operating activities 149,794 105371
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Receipls [rom issuance ol unils 194,773 12,095
Paymenl against redemption of unils (190.476) (73.322)
Distribution paid duning the year (43.959) -
MNet cash used in (nancing activities (39,662) (61.227)
Nel increase in cash and cash equivalents during the year 110,132 44,144
Cash and cash equivalenis al beginning ol the year 47311 71,305
Cash and cash equivalenis at end of the year 18 _ 157 443 115449
The snnexed notes From 1 to 30 form an integral part of these Gnancial slalements.
For MCB Investment Management Limited
(Management Company)
i | Ma.wbu ’Mhmﬂin‘ﬂ—
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer Director
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

1.2

LEGAL STATUS AND NATURE OF BUSINESS

Pakistan Capital Market Fund (the Fund) was estabhshed under a Trust Deed executed between
MCB Investment Manapement Limited (the Company) as Management Company and Central
Depository Company of Pakistan Limited (CDC) as the Trustee. The Trust Deed was approved
by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) vide its letter dated September
30, 2003 consequent to which the Trust Deed was executed on October 27, 2003 in accordance
with the Asset Management Compamies Rules, 1995 (AMC Rules) repealed by the Non-
Banking Finance Companies (Establishment and Regulations) Rules, 2003 (NBFC Rules). The
Funds are required to be registered under the "Sindh Trusts Act, 2020" (the Smdh Trust Act).
Accordingly, on August 13, 2021 the Trust Deed of the fund had been registered under the
Sindh Trust AcL.

In Apnl 2023, MCB Bank Limited acquired the entire shareholding of Anf Habib Corporation
Limited (AHCL) m MCB Anf Habib Savings and Investments Limited after which the
shareholding of MCB Bank Limited has increased from 51.33% to 81.42% in the Company and
AHCL no longer holds any shares in the Company. Conseguently, members of the Company 1n
an Extra Ordmary General Meeting (EOGM) held on July 7. 2023 resolved via special
resolution that the name of the Company be changed from MCB Anf Habib Savings and
Investments Limited to MCB Investment Management Limited. Thereafler, the Company
apphied to SECP, for approval of change of name, which was granted on August 15, 2023 and as
such, the change of name became effective from that date.

The Management Company of the Fund has been licensed to act as an Assel Management
Company under the Non Banking Finance Companies (Establishment and Regulations) Rules
2003 through a certificate of registration issued by the SECP. The registered office of the
Management Company 1s situated at 2nd Floor, Adamjee House, L1 Chundnigar Road, Karachi,
Pakistan,

Pakistan Capital Market Fund as a closed-end scheme was authorized by the SECP on
November 5, 2003. During the year 2005, the Fund was converted from a closed-end scheme 1o
an open-end scheme. The Fund has been categonized as "Balanced Scheme” and offers umils for
public subscription on continuous basis. The units of the Fund are transferable and can also be
redeemed by surrendenng to the Fund. The Fund 15 histed on the Pakistan Stock Exchange
Limited.

The Fund primanly invests in a mix of listed equity and debt securities, unlisted government

secunties, secured debl secunbies, money markel transactions and reverse re-purchase
tramsactions.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Pakistan Credit Rating Agency Limited (PACRA) has assigned an assel manager rating of
'AMI" dated October 06, 2023 to the Management Company .

Title to the assets of the Fund 1s held in the name of Central Depository Company of Pakistan
Limited as Trustee of the Fund.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
Statement of compliance

These hnancial statements have been prepared m accordance with the accounting and reporting
standards as applicable in Pakistan. The accounting and reporting standards as applicable in

Pakistan comprise of:

- International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Standards) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as notified under the Companies Act, 2017;

- Provisions of and directives 1ssued under the Companies Act, 2017, along with part VIIA of
the repealed Companies Ordinance, 1984; and

- NBFC Rules, the Non-Banking Finance Companies and Notified Entities Repulations, 2008
(the NBFC Regulations') and reguirements of the Trust Deed.

Where provisions of and directives 1ssued under the Compames Act, 2017, part VIIA of the
repealed Companies Ordinance, 1984, the NBFC Rules, the NBFC Regulations and the
requirements of the Trust Deed differ from the IFRSs, the provisions of and directives msued
under the Companies Act, 2017, part VIIIA of the repealed Companies Ordinance, 1984, the
NBFC Rules, the NBFC Regulations and the requirements of the Trust Deed have been
followed.

Basis of measurcment

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, unless
stated otherwise.

These financial statements have been prepared under accrual basis of accounting excepl for cash
flow information.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Pakistani Rupees ("Rupees” or "Rs."), which is the
Fund's functional and presentation currency.

Significant accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of these financial statements in accordance with the accounting and reporting
standards as applicable in Pakistan requires the management to make estimates, judgements
and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. [t
also requires the management to excrcise judgement in application of accounting policies. The
estimates, judgements and associated assumptions are based on the historical expernience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the year in which the estimates are revised if the
revision affects only that year, or in the year of revision and future years if the revision affects
both current and future years.

The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where estimates and
assumptions are significant to the financial statements as a whole are as follows:

Classification and valuation of investmenis
For details please refer notes 4.2.1.1 to these financial statements.

Impairment of investment

For details please refer notes 4.2.1.2 to these financial statements.
Provision for taxation
For details please refer notes 4.4 and 16 to these financial statements.

(ther asscts

Judgement is involved in assessing the realisability of other assets balances.

APPLICATION OF NEW STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS
TO PUBLISHED APPROVED ACCOUNTING AND REPORTING STANDARDS

New accounting standards, amendments and IFRS interpretations that are effective for
the year ended June 30, 2024

The tollowing stantdards, amendments and interpretations are effective for the year ended June
30, 2024. These standards, amendments and interpretations are cither not relevant to the
Company's operations or did not have significant impact on the tinancial statements other than
certain additional disclosures.

573 PAKISTAN CAPITAL MARKET FUND




NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Effective date
(annual periods
beginning on or
after)
Amendments to IAS 1 'Presentation of Financial Statements' and IFRS
Practice Statcment 2 Making Materiality Judgements- Disclosurc of January 01, 2023
Amendments to IAS 8 'Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors’ - Definition of Accounting Estimates January 01, 2023
Amendments to IAS 12 'Income Taxes' - Deferred Tax related to Asscts
and Liabilitics arising from a singlc transaction January 01, 2023
Amendments to IAS 12 'Income Taxes' - Temporary cxception to the
requircments regarding deferred tax assets and liabilitics related to pillar
two Incomc taxcs January 01, 2023

The Company adopted the narrow-scope amendments to the International Accounting Standard
(IAS) 1, Presentation of Financial Statements which have been effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. Although the amendments did not result in any
changes to accounting policy themselves, they impacted the accounting policy information
disclosed in the financial statements.

The amendments require the disclosurc of ‘material’ rather than ‘significant’ accounting
policics. The amendments also provide guidance on the application of materiality to disclosure
of accounting policies, assisting the Company to provide uscful entity-specific accounting
policy information that users need to understand other information in the financial statements.

Management revicwed the accounting policics and updates to the information disclosed in Note
4 Matcrial accounting policics (2023: Significant accounting policics) in certain instances in
line with the amendments and concluded that all its accounting policics are material for
disclosure.

New accounting standards, amendments and IFRS interpretations that are cffective for the year
ended Junc 30, 2024.

The following stantdards, amendments and interpretations are effective for the year ended June
30, 2024. These standards, amendments and intcrpretations are cither not relevant to the
Company's operations or did not have significant impact on the financial statcments other than
certain additional disclosures.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Amendments to IFRS 7 'Financial Instruments: Disclosures' -
finance arrangements

Supplier

Amendments to IFRS 7 'Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ - Amendments
regarding the classification and measurement of financial instruments

Amendments to IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments' - Amendments regarding
the classification and measurement of financial instruments

Amendments to IFRS 16 "Leases’ - Amendments to clarify how a seller-
lessee subsequently measures sale and leaseback transactions

Amendments to I[AS 1 'Presentation of Financial Statements’ -

Classification of liabilities as current or non-current

Amendments to TAS | 'Presentation of Financial Statements' - Non-current
liabilities with covenants

Amendments to TAS 7 'Statement of Cash Flows' - Supplier linance
arrangements

Amendments to IAS 2] "The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange
Rates' - Lack of Exchangeability

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Effective date

{(annuoal perieds

beginning on or

after)

January 01, 2024

January 01, 2026

January 01, 2026

January 01, 2024

January 01, 2024

January 01, 2024

January 01, 2024

January 01, 2025

January 01, 2026

IFRS 1 'First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards’ has been issued by
IASB effective from July 01, 2009. However, it has not been adopted yet locally by Securities

and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP).

IFRS 19 'Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures' has been issued by [ASB
effective from January 01, 2027. However, it has not been adopted vet locally by SECP.

IFRS 17 - 'Insurance contracts’ has been notified by the IASB to be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2023. However SECP has notified the timeframe for the

adoption of IFRS - 17 which will be adopted by January 01, 2026.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are
sel oul below. These accounting policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

4.2.1

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of balances with banks and short-term highly liguid
investments with origmal matunities of three months or less.

Financial instruments

A linancial mstrument 15 any contract that gives nse to a financial assel of one entity and a
financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.

Financial asseis

4.2.1.1 Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

A debt instrument is measured at amortized cost il it meets both of the following conditions
and 1s not designated as at FVTPL:

- the assel is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash Nows; and

- the contractual terms ol the financial asset give nise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A debt instrument is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and
15 not designated as at FVTPL:

- the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contraclual cash flows and selling linancial assets; and

- the contractual terms of the financial asset give nise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All financial assets nol classified as measured al amortised cost as described above are
measured at FVTPL. On mmtial recognition, the Fund may irrevocably designate a financial
assel that otherwise meels the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or as al FVTPL if
domg so ehminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise
arise. A debt instrument held for trading purposes 1s classified as measured at FVTPL.

In addition, on initial recognition, the Fund may irrevocably designate a debt instrument that
otherwise meels the requirements to be measured al amortized cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL
il doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismaich that would otherwise
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Business model assessment

The Fund determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of
financial assets to achieve its business objective.

The Fund's business model 15 not assessed on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but at a
higher level of aggregated portfolios and is based on observable factors such as:

The objectives for the portfolio, in particular, whether management's strategy focuses on
eaming contractual revenue, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration
of the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets or realizing
cash flows through the sale of the assets;

How the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business
model are evaluated and reported to the entity’s key management personnel;

The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held
within that business model) and, in particular, the way those nisks are managed; and

How managers of the business are compensated (for example, whether the compensation is
based on the fair value of the assets managed or on the contractual cash flows collected).

The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenamos without taking
‘worst case' or 'stress case’ scenarios into account. If cash flows after initial recognition are
realised in a way that is different from the Fund's onginal expectations, the Fund does not
change the classification of the remaining financial assets held in that business model, but
mmcorporites such mformation when assessing newly originated or newly purchased financial
assets going forward.

Assessments whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest

(SPPI)

As a second step of its classification process the Fund assesses the contractual terms of
financial to identify whether they meet the SPP1 test.

‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test 15 defined as the fair value of the financial asset at imtial
recogmtion and may change over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there are
repayments of principal or amortization of the premium / discount).

The most significant elements of interest within a lending arrangement are typically the
consideration for the time value of money and credit nisk. To make the SPPI assessment, the
Fund applies judgement and considers relevant factors such as the currency in which the
financial asset is denominated, and the period for which the interest rate is set
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

In contrast, contractual lerms that introduce a more than the mmmmum exposure to nsks or
volatility in the contractual cash {lows that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement do not

give rise lo contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
amount outstanding. In such cases, the financial asset 1s required to be measured at FVTPL.

Subsequent Measurement

The following accounting policies apply to the subsequent measurement of lnancial assets:

Financial assets  These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses,
at FVTPL including any interest or dividend income, are recognized in income
statement.

Financial assets These assets are subsequently measured at amortized cosl using the

at amortized cost cffoctive interest method. The amortized cost is reduced by impairment
losses (see (i) below). Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses
and impairment are recognized in income stalement.

4.2.1.2 Impairment of financial assets

In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 requires an entity to account for
expected credit losses and changes in those expectled credit losses at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other words, it 1s no longer necessary
for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are recognized.

The puiding principle of the expected credit loss (ECL) model is to reflect the general pattern
of deterioration or improvement in the credit quality of Nnancial instruments. The amount of
ECLs recognized as a loss allowance or provision depends on the extent of credit deterioration
since initial recognition. Under the general approach, there are two measurement bases:

- 12-month ECLs (Stage 1), which applies to all items (from initial recognition) as long as
there is no significant deterioration in credit quality.

- Lifetime ECLs (Stages 2 and 3), which applies when a significant increase in credit risk
has oceurred on an individual or collective basis.

The Fund's fmancial assets mclude mainly mvestment, advances and deposits, dividend and
mark-up receivable and bank balances.

4.2.1.3 Regular way contracts

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade date - the date on
which the Fund commuts to purchase or sell the asset.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

4.2.1.4 Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are derecogmzed when the rights to receive cash [lows from the financial
assets have expired or have been transferred and the Fund has transferred substantially all nsks
and rewards of ownership.

4.2.1.5 Derecognition

All financial habilities are recognised at the time when the Fund becomes a party to the
contractual provisions ol the instrument. These are mitally recopmsed at fair value and
subsequently stated al amortised cosl.

A fnancial hability is derecognised when the obligation under the lability is discharged or
cancelled or expired.

4.2.1.6 Financial liabilities

All financial habilities are recognized at the time when the Fund becomes a party to the
contractual provisions ol the mstrument. These are imitally recognized at fair value and
subsequently stated at amortised cost using elfective interest method. A financial hability is
derecognized when the obligation under the hability is discharged or cancelled or expired. Any
gain or loss on derecognition of fimancial liabilities is taken to the Income Statement. Financial
liabilities include payable to the Management Company and other habilities.

4.2.1.7 Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets and financial habilities are offsel and the net amount is reporled in the
statement of assets and liabilities when there 15 a legally enforceable night to set off the
recognised amounts and there 15 an intention Lo settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Provisions

PProvisions are recognised when the Fund has a present, legal or constructive obligation as a
resull of past events, il 15 probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required 1o settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amounl of obligation can
be made. Provisions are regularly reviewed and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Taxation

The income of the Fund is exempt [rom income tax under clause 99 of Part | of the Second
Schedule to the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 subject to the condition that not less than 90% of
its accounting income for the year, as reduced by capital gains, whether realised or unrealised,
1s distributed in cash to the unit holders.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

The Fund is also exempt from the provisions of section 113 (minimum tax) and section 113C
(Alternative Corporate Tax) under clause 11A of Part IV of the Second Schedule to the Income
Tax Ordinance, 2001.

The Fund does not account for deferred tax in these financial statements as the Fund intends to
continue availing the tax exemption in future years by distributing in cash at least 90% of its
accounting income for the year as reduced by capital gains, whether realised or unrealised, to
its unit holders.

4.5 Proposed distributions

Distributions declared subsequent to the reporting date are considered as non-adjusting events
and are not recognised before the reporting date.

4.6 Issue and redemption of units

Units issued are recorded at the offer price, determined by the Management Company for the
applications received by the distributors during business hours on that day. The offer price
represents the net assets value per unit as of the close of the business day plus the allowable
sales load, provision for transaction costs and any provision for duties and charges, if
applicable.

Units redeemed are recorded at the redemption price, applicable to umits for which the
distributors receive redemption applications during business hours of that day. The redemption
price represents the net assets value per unit as of the close of the business day less any back-
end load (if applicable), any duties, taxes, charges on redemption and any provision for
transaction costs, if applicable. Redemption of units is recorded on acceptance of application
for redemption.

4.7 Element of income / (loss) and capital gains / (losses) included in prices of units issued less
those in units redecmed

Element of income represents the difference between net assets value per unit on the issuance
or redemption date, as the case may be, of units and the net assets value per unit at the
beginning of the relevant accounting year. Element of income is a transaction of capital nature
and the receipt and payment of element of income is taken to unit holders' fund. However, to
maintain the same ex-dividend net asset value of all units outstanding on the accounting date,
net element of income contributed on issue of umits lying in unit holders fund is refunded on
units in the same proportion as dividend bears to accounting income available for distribution.

4.8  Net assets value per unit

The net assets value (NAV) per unit as disclosed in the statement of assets and liabilities is
calculated by dividing the net assets of the Fund by the number of units in issue at the year end.
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Revenue recognition

- Realised capital gains / (losses) arising on sale of investments are included in the income
statement on the date at which the transaction takes place.

- Dividend income from equily securities is recognised when the right to receive the
dividend is established.

- Mark up / return on bank deposils is recognised on a time apportionment basis using
effective rate.

- Unrealised gains / (losses) arising on re-measurement of invesimenis classified as
'linancial assets at fair value through profit or loss are included in the Income Statement in
the year in which they arise.

Transactions with related parties / connected persons

Transactions with connected persons are carried in the normal course of business, at contracted
rales and terms determined in accordance with market rates.

Remuneration to the Management Company and the Trustee is determined in accordance with
the provisions of NBFC Regulations and the Trust Deed respectively.

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheel liability method in respect of all
temporary differences arising from differences between the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of the taxable profit.

The deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and
delerred tax assels are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the deductible temporary dilferences, unused tax losses and tax credits
can be utilized. Deferred tax is calculated at the rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the differences reverse based on enacled tax rates.

The income of the Fund is exempt from income tax under clause 99 of Part I of the Second
Schedule to the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 subject to the condition that not less than 90% of
its accounting income for the year, as reduced by eapital gains, whether realised or unrealised,
is disiributed amongst the unit holders in cash. Provided that, for the purpose of determining
distribution of at least 90% of the accounting income, the income distributed through bonus
units shall not be taken into account.
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4.11

Expenses

All expenses including management remuneration, trustee remuneration, the Securities and
Exchange Commission of Pakistan remuneration and allocated expenses are recognised in the
Income Statement on an accrual basis.

2024 2023
Note ——— (Rupees in "000) ———
BALANCES WITH BANKS

In current accounts 27590 2,791
In saving accounts 5.1 154,653 44 520
52 ]5?,4:4}'_ 47311

These accounts carry profit at the rate ranging from 19% to 20.5% (2023: 12.75% to 19.5%)
PEr annum.

These include balance of Rs. 1.753 million (2023; Rs. 1.875 million) maintained with MCB
Bank Limited (a related party).

INVESTMENTS

Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Listed equity securities 6.1 365,368 230,828
Ciovernment securities 6.2 = HE, 138
365,368 298,966
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6.1.1

Following shares were pledged with National Clearing Company of Pakistan Limited (NCCPL)
as collateral against margin for guaranteeing settlement of the Fund's trades in accordance with
Circular No. 11 dated October 23, 2007 issued by SECP:

| Name of sccurity | | 2024 —||—2023 —| | — 2024 — || 2023 |
— (Number of sharcs) — — (Rupees in "000) —

Bank Alfalah Limited 30,000 - 2,041 -
United Bank Limited 44 004) 0,000 11,275 3,877
Maple Leal Cement Factory

Limited 100,000 100,000 3,800 2,833
Fauji Cement Company

Limuted 500,000 SO0, O00 11,455 5,880

674,000 G50, 00 28,570 14,590

6.1.2 The Finance Act. 2014 introduced amendments to the Income Tax Ordinance 2001 as a result

of which companies are liable to withhold tive percent of the bonus shares to be issued. The
shares so withheld shall only be released if the Fund deposits tax equivalent to five percent of
the value of the bonus shares issued to the Fund including bonus shares withheld, determined
on the basis of day-end price on the first day of closure of books of the issuing company.

In this regard, a constitutional petition had been filed by Collective Investment Schemes (CISs)
through their Trustees in the High Court of Sindh, challenging the applicability of withholding
tax provisions on bonus shares received by Cl1Ss. The petition was based on the fact that
because CISs are exempt from deduction of income tax under Clause 99 Part 1 to the Second
Schedule of the Income Tax Ordinance 2001, the withholding tax provision should also not be
applicable on bonus shares received by ClISs. A stay order had been granted by the High Court
of Sindh in favour of CISs.

During the year ended lune 30, 2018, the Supreme Court of Pakistan passed a judgement on
June 27, 2018 whereby the suits which are already pending or shall be filed in future must only
be continued / entertained on the condition that a minimum of 50 percent of the tax calculated
by the tax authorities is deposited with the authorities. Accordingly, the CISs were required to
pay minimum 50% of the tax calculated by the tax authorities for the case 1o remain continued.
The CISs failed to deposit the minimum 50% of the tax liability and accordingly the stay got
vacated automatically. During the year ended June 30, 2020, the CISs have filed a fresh
constitutional petition via CP 4653 dated July 11, 2019 in the High Court of Sindh. In this
regard, on July 15, 2019, the High Court of Sindh has issued notices to the relevant parties and
has ordered that no third party interest on bonus shares issued to the Funds in lieu of their
investments be created in the meantime. The matter is still pending adjudication and the Funds
have included these shares in their portfolio. The management is confident that the decision of
the constitutional petition will be in favour of the CISs. During the year ended June 30, 2020,
the Fund has reclassified the amount of these shares from "investments" to "advances, deposits
and other receivables” based on the market value of these shares on November 13, 2024,
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Further, the Finance Act, 2018 eftective trom July 1, 2018 has omitted Section 236M of
Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 requiring every company quoted on stock exchange issuing bonus
shares to the shareholders of the company, to withhold five percent of the bonus shares to be
issued. Therefore, bonus shares issued to the Fund during the year were not withheld by the
Investee companies.

2024 2023
Note —— (Rupees in "N} ——
Government securities
Market Treasury Bills 6.2.1 - 68,138
- 68,138
Market Treasury Bills
Markel valoe 52 4
Face Vel As ol Jums 38, 024 F——
Mame of wcurin Dhate af b P sl taled kil
A w July matErd As ol Jwne| Carrying Almrken Lhnrealised
o imring e H Mol aamets]  LEwesd-
1, 2813 year -,I:'ltl M1 InZ4 Value wvaloe (S )
VR upers i D) -
Market Tressary Bils
-3 maiiahs Jualy B3, 2078 SHEL O SO N -
=T mwoihen Anigum 10, T - Au} [ 1, [ HE - -
- 3 pwiiadhes Juina 1%, 323 TIwE - T
Foknl i af Jone ¥, I0Z4 — ===
Tonal & ab Read I, 2EY &4 1Ma [LRE: ] {rEl

Unrealised appreciation / (diminution) on re-measurement
of investments classified as financial assets at fair value
throagh profit or loss - net

Market value of investments .1 365368 208,966
Less: carrying value of investments 6.1 262 938 304,585
102,430 (5,619)
PROFIT RECEIVABLES
Deposit accounts 2.942 1.756
2,942 1.756

ADVANCES, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Advance tax 8.1 944 603
Security deposits:
- National Clearing Company of Pakistan Limited 3817 3817
- Central Depository Company of Pakistan Limited 300 300
Receivable Against Bonus Shares Withheld 6.1.2 203 203
Other receivables 5 5
Receivable against sale of securities 4.652 -
5921 4,928
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8.1 As per clause 47(B) of part IV of the Second Schedule to the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001,
payments made to collective investment schemes (CISs) are exempt trom withholding tax
under section 151 and 150. However, withholding tax on sale of shares, profit on bank balances
and dividends to the Fund has been deducted by various withholding agents based on the
interpretation issued by FBR vide letter C. no. 1{43) DG (WHT)/2008-VOL.11-66417-R dated
12 May 2015 which reguires every withholding agent to withheld income tax at applicable
rates in case a valid exemption certificate under section 159(1) issued by the concemed
Commissioner of Inland Revenue (CIR) is not produced before him by the withholdee.

For this purpose, the Mutual Funds Association of Pakistan (MUFAP) on behalf of various
mutal funds (including the Funds being managed by the Management Company) had filed a
petition in the Sindh High Court (SHC) challenging the above mentioned interpretation of the
Federal Board of Revenue (FBR) which was decided by the SHC in favour of FBE. On January
28, 2016, the Board of Directors of the Management Company passed a resolution by
circulation, authorising all CISs to file an appeal in the Supreme Court through their Trustees,
to direct all persons being withholding agents, including share registrars and banks to observe
the provisions of clause 47B of Part IV of the S5econd Schedule to the Income Tax Ordinance,
2001 without imposing any conditions at the time of making any payment to the CISs being
managed by the Management Company. Accordingly. a petition was filed in the Supreme
Court of Pakistan by the Funds topether with other CISs (managed by the Management
Company and other Asset Management Companies) whereby the Supreme Court granted the
petitioners leave to appeal from the initial judgement of the SHC. Pending resolution of the
matter, the amount of withholding tax deducted on profit received by the Fund on profit against
sale of shares, profit on bank balances and dividends has been shown as advance tax under
‘Advances, deposits and other receivables' as at June 30, 2024 as, in the opinion of the
management, the amount of tax deducted at source will be refunded.

2024 2023
Note —— (Rupees in "D} ——
9. PAYABLE TO THE MCB INVESTMENT

MANAGEMENT LIMITED - MANAGEMENT

COMPANY
Remuneration payable to management company 9.1 1,328 925
Sindh Sales Tax payvable on management fee 9.2 173 120
Allocated expenses payable 93 34 28
Selling and marketing expenses payable 94 389 -

1.924 1.073

9.1 A per regulation 61 of the NBFC Regulations, 2008, the Management Company of the Fund is
entitled to a remuneration equal to an amount not exceeding the maximum rate of the
management fee as disclosed in the Offering Document subject to the total expense ratio limit.
Keeping in view the maximum allowable threshold, the Management Company has charged its
remuneration at the rate of 3.1% (2023: 3 35% per annum) of the average daily net assets of the
Fund during the year ended June 30, 2024. The remuneration is payable to the Management
Company on monthly in arrears.
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92 During the year, an amount of Rs 1.771 million (2023: Rs 1.533 million} was charged on
account of sales tax on management remuneration levied through the Simdh Sales Tax on
Services Act, 2011 and an amount of Rs 1.718 million (2023: Rs. 1.552 million) has been paid
to the Management Company which acts as a collecting agent.

93 In accordance with Regulation 60 of the NBFC Regulations, the Management Company is
entitled to charge fees and expenses related to registrar services, accounting, operation and
valuation services, related to a Collective Investment Scheme (CIS).

The Management Company has allocated expenses to the Fund based on its discretion subject
to not being higher than actual expense, which has also been approved by the Board of
Directors of the Management Company.

94 The SECP has allowed the Asset Management Companies to charge selhng and marketing
expenses to all categories of open-end mutual funds (except fund of funds) upto a maximum
limit approved by the Board of Directors of the Management Company as part of annual plan.

The Management Company has charged Selling and Marketing Expenses to the fund to the
extent as it has think expedient on its discretion subject to not being higher than actual

gxpenses.
2024 2023
Note —— (Rupees in "000) —
1 PAYABLE TO CENTRAL DEPOSITORY
COMPANY OF PAKISTAN LIMITED - TRUSTEE
Trustee remuneration payable 10.1 85 58
Sindh sales tax on trustee remuneration 10.2. i1 7
96 65

10.1  The Trustee is entitled to a monthly remuneration for services rendered to the Fund under the
provisions of the Trust Deed and Offering Document as per the tanff specified therein, based
on the average daily net assets of the Fund duning the year. The tanff structure applicable to the
Fund in respect of trustee remuneration is as follows:

Average net asset value  Tariff per annuikariff per annum
Up to Rs. 1,000 million  0.20% per annum of net assets
Amount exceeding
Rs.1,000 million Rs.2.0 million plus 0.10% p.a. of net assets exceeding Rs.1 billion

10.2. During the year, an amount of Rs (0.113 milhon (2023: Rs 0.093 million) was charged on
account of sales tax on remuneration of the Trustee levied through the Sindh Sales Tax on
Services Act, 2011 and an amount of Rs 0,109 million (2023: Rs 0.094 million) was paid to the
Trustee which acts as a collecting agent.

590 PAKISTAN CAPITAL MARKET FUND




NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

11.1

2024 2023
Note ———- (Rupees in "000) —-
PAYABLE TO THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION OF PAKISTAN
Annual fee 1.1 36 70

In accordance with the NBFC Regulations, a Collective Investment Scheme (CIS) is required
to pay annual fee to the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP).

In accordance with the SRO No. 592(1)/2023 dated May 17, 2023 1ssued by SECP, the Fund
has charged SECP [ee at the rate of 0.095% (June 30, 2023: 0.02%) of the average daily net
assels of the Fund during the year. It is required to be paid within 15 days of the close of every
calender month.

ACCRUED AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Provision for Federal Excise Duty 12.1

= On management remuneration 5872 5,872

- Sales load 393 393
Legal and professional charges payable 39 39
Withholding tax payable 447 I
Dividend payable 2,783 2784
Auditors' remuneration payable 498 560
Brokerage payable 104 133
Other payable 239 40

10,375 9,822

The Finance Act, 2013 enlarged the scope of Federal Excise Duly (FED) on financial services
to include Asset Management Companies (AMCs) as a result of which FED at the rate of 16
percent on the remuneration of the Management Company and sales load was applicable with
cffect from June 13, 2013. The Management Company was of the view that since the
remuneration was already subject to provincial sales lax, further levy of FED would result in
double taxation which did not appear to be the spirit of the law. Hence, on September 4, 2013 a
constitutional petition was filed with the Sindh High Court (SHC) by the Management
Company together with various other asset management companies challenging the levy of
FED.

With efTeet from July 1, 2016, FED on services provided or rendered by non-banking financial
institutions dealing in services which are subject 1o provincial sales tax has been withdrawn by

the Finance Act. 2016.
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During the year ended June 30, 2017, the SHC passed an order whereby all notices,
proceedings taken or pending, orders made, duty recovered or actions taken under the Federal
Excise Act, 2005 mm respect ol the rendenng or providing of services (lo the extent as
challenged in any relevant petition) were set aside. In response to this, the Deputy
Commissioner Inland Revenue has filed a Civil Petition for leave to appeal in the Supreme
Court of Pakistan which is pending adjudication.

In view of the above, the Fund has discontinued making further provision in respect of FED on
remuneration of the Management Company with effect from July 1, 2016. However, as a
matter of abundant caution the provision for FED made for the period from June 13, 2013 tll
June 30, 2016 amounting to Rs 6.27 million is being retained in the financial statements of the
Fund as the matter is pending before the Supreme Court of Pakistan. Had the provision for
FED not been recorded in the Iinaneial statements of the Fund, the net assets value of the Fund
as at June 30, 2024 would have been higher by Rs 0.21 (2023: Rs 0.21) per unit.

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

There were no contingencies and commitments outstanding as at June 30, 2024 (2023: Nil).

2024 2023
—— (Rupees in "000) —
NUMBER OF UNITS IN ISSUE

Total units in issue at the beginning of the year 30,207,113 35,840,544
Add: Unit 1ssued 12,827,286 1,130,708
Less: Unils redeemed (12,627,813) (6,764,139)
Total units in issue at the end ol the year . 3(]3(]6158;3 . 3@,2‘31} 13

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

Annual audit fee 340 335
Hall yearly review fee 170 167
Other certification and services 30 306
Out of pocket expenses and taxes 151 117

741 025

592 PAKISTAN CAPITAL MARKET FUND




NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

TAXATION

The income of the Fund 15 exempt from income tax under clause 99 of Part T of the Second
Schedule to the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 subject to the condition that not less than ninety
percent of its accounting income for the year, as reduced by capital gains, whether realized or
unrealized, 1s distributed to the unit holders as cash dividend. Furthermore, regulation 63 of the
NBFC Regulations requires the Fund to distribute 90% of the net accounting income other than
capital gains to the unit holders. The Fund 1s also exempt from the provisions of section 113
(minimum lax) under clause 11A of Part IV of the Second Schedule to the Income Tax
Ordinance, 2001. The Fund has not recorded any tax lability in respect of income relating to
the current year as the Management Company has distributed cash dividend that is at least 90
percent of the Fund's accounting income for the year ended June 30, 2024 as reduced by capital
wains (whether realized or unrealized) to its unit holders in the form of cash.

The Fund 15 also exempt from the provisions of Section 113 (minimum tax) under clause 11A

of Part IV of the Second Schedule to the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001.

Earnings per unit

Earnings per unit is calculated by dividing the net profit / loss of the year aller taxation of the
Fund by the weighted average number of units cutstanding during the year,

Earnings per unit has not been disclosed as. in the opimion of the management, the
determmation ol cumulative weighted average number of outstanding units for calculating
EPU is not practicable.

2024 2023
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Note —— (Rupees in '000) —
Balances with banks 5. 157,443 47311
Treasury bills matunng within 3 months 6.2.1 - 68,138
_ 157,443 115,449

TOTAL EXPENSE RATIO

The annualized total expense ratio of the Fund based on current year results is 4.87% and thas
includes 0.57% representing government levy, SECP fee ete.
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20. TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES OUTSTANDING WITH CONNECTED
PERSONS / OTHER RELATED PARTIES

Related parties / connected persons of the Fund mnclude the Management Company, other
collective investment schemes managed by the Management Company, MCB Bank Limited
being the Holding Company of the Management Company, the Trustee, directors, key
management personnel and other associated undertakings and connected persons. Connected
persons also include any person beneficially owing directly or indirectly 10% or more of the
units in the issue / net assets of the Fund.

Transactions with connected persons essentially comprise sale and redemption of umits, fee on
account of managmg the affairs of the Fund, other charges, sale and purchase of investments
and distrbution payments 1o connected persons. The transactions with conmected persons are in
the normal course of business, at contracted rates and at terms determined in accordance with
market rates.

Remuneration payable to the Management Company and the Trustee is determimed in
accordance with the provision of the NBFC Regulations and constitutive documents of the
Fund respectively.

Details of transactions and balances at year end with related parties / connecled persons, other
than those which have been disclosed elsewhere m these Anancial statements, are as follows:

20.1 Details of transaction with connected persons are as follows:

2024 2023
~—— (Rupees in "000) ——

MCB - Investments Limited - Manapgement Company

Remuneration including indirect taxes 15,396 13,323

Allocated Expenses 375 352

Selling and Marketing Expenses 1,246 -
Central Depository Company of Pakistan Limited - Trustee

Remuneration including indirect taxes 04 812

CDS charges 53 25
MCB Bank Limited

Bank charges 14 9

Mark-up income 185 63
D.G. Khan Cement Limited

Purchase 145,500 (2023: 296,000) shares 7.236 14,866

Sale 373,500 (2023: 132,000) shares 18,515 7,173

Dividend Income - 209
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2024 2023
—— (Rupees in "000) —
International Steels Limited
Purchase 140,000 (2023: Nil) shares 6,664 -
Sale 140,000 (2023: Nil) shares 10,253 -
Dividend Income 625 -
Nishat Mills Limited
Purchase 32,000 (2023: 15,000) shares 2.331 1.043
Sale 32,000 (2023: 70,000) shares 2,289 4,060
Dividend Income - T17
20.2 Amount outstanding at the vear end
MCB - Investments Limited - Management Company
Management remuneration payable 1,328 925
Sindh sales tax on management remuneration 173 120
Allocated expense payable 34 28
Marketing & Selling expense payable 389 -
Central Depository Company of Pakistan Limited - Trustee
Security deposit 300 300
Trustee remuneration payable 85 58
Sindh sales tax payable on trustee remuneration 11 7
MCB Bank Limited
Balance with Bank 1,753 2214
Profit receivable on bank deposit - 35

20.3 Transactions during the year with connected persons / related parties in units of the

Fund:
614
Aty [Tcitwondy Redemll | tgu || Ay | okl Nelumndl | ot
oL W | ennversioa in | conversion oal | 0, 2024 ol 208 converses i | | cenversion oat 30, 2024
' | tramaferred in|  transfer out b tramderred im | |/ tramifer sot
{Umiita} (Rupees in "0}

Ky mansgemenl persoanel * & = ] | - El g - - ols
10% or mare enitholders 3,500 k02 13627 3 602,880 1,501, 568 M5 a2 5,352 85,558

* This reflocts ibe position of retsied party | conmectod person ditus as ot June W), 2024
** Nil fipure dise to randing of
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IEN
Asat July :“""'_“: ""'f'“’::{ Asal ue || Asai July :‘;T: m An i Jume
b loann f ramsferred ind  frambler oul IS b Tt ramsferred im | / bransfer oml LS
{1Enitx} (Rapeess in "000)
Key manapemeni persmnel * & +* ] ! 008
1% or move unilhalders 3,500 802 1,500, =02 118 HIm
* Thes reflocts the position o rehabod garty { comecied peeson staios z i feme W), 2070
** Ni figrure thaz to roundimg off
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 2024
CATEGORY At Assets at fair
amortised - Total
el through
profit or loss
(Rupees in "000)
Financial Assets
Balances with banks 157,443 = 157.443
Investments = 365,368 365,368
Dividend and profit receivables 2.942 = 2,942
Secunity deposils and other receivable 4,122 - 4,122
164,507 365,368 529 875
Financial Liabilities
Payable to the MCB Investmenis Management
Limited - Management Company 1.924 = 1,924
Payable to Central Depository Company of
Pakistan Limited- Trustee 96 - 96
Payable against purchase of investment 2,660 = 2,660
Payable against redemption of units 216 - 216
Accrued and other hiabilities 3.663 = 3,663
8,559 = 8,559
2023
At Assets at Fair
amortised valne Total
St through
profit or loss
(Rupees in "000)
Financial Assets
Balances with banks 47,311 - 47311
Investments = 208 966 298,966
Dividend and profit receivables 1.756 = 1,756
Security deposits and other recervable 4,122 - 4,122
53.189 298,966 352,155
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2023
At Al fair valoe
amortised through Total
cost profit or loss
(Rupces in "000)
Financial Liabilitics
Payable to the MCB Investments Management
Limited - Management Company 1,073 - 1,073
Payable to Central Depository Company of - -
Pakistan Limited- Trustee 65 - 65
Payable against purchase of investment 8,720 - 8,720
Payable against redemption of umts 216 - 216
Accrued and other habilities 3,556 - 3.556
13,630 - 13,630
22, FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board of Directors of the Management Company has overall responsibility for the
establishment and oversight of the Fund's risk management framework. The Board is also
responsible for developing and monitoring the Fund's risk management policies.
The Fund's risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the nisks faced by
the Fund, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to
limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in
market conditions and the Fund's activities.
The fund preliminarily invest in a portfolio of equity securities. These Fund's activities expose
it to a variety of financial nsks: market nsk, credit nsk and hquidity nisk.
22.1 Moarket risk

Market nisk 15 the nsk that the fair value or the future cash flows of a financial instrument may
fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices.

The Management Company manages the market risk through diversification of the investment
portfolio and by following the internal guidelines established by the Investment Committee.

Market risk comprises of three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other price
risk.

22.1.1 Currcncy risk

Currency nisk is the nisk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Fund does not hold any financial
instrument in foreign currencies and hence is not exposed to such risk.
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22.1.2 Yield / Interest rate risk

Yield / Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial
mstrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in markel interest rates. As of June 30, 2024,
the Funds is exposed to such risk on balances with banks and investment in sukuk ceriificates.
The Investment Commuittee of the Fund reviews the portfolio of the Fund on a regular basis to
ensure that the nisk 1s managed within the acceptable hmits.

a) Sensitivity analysis of variable rate instruments

As al June 30, 2024, the Fund holds KIBOR based bank deposits exposing the Fund to cash
flow mlerest rate rnisk. In case ol 100 basis poinls increase / decrease in KIBOR at year end, the
net assets value of the Fund and the net income for the year would be higher / lower by Rs
1.5465 mallion (2023: Rs 0.445 mllion).

b) Sensitivity analysis of fixed rate insiruments

As at June 30, 2024, the Fund does not hold any financial instruments exposing the Fund to fair
value interest rate risk.

The composition of the fund's investment portfolio, KIBOR rates and rates announced by
Financial Market Association of Pakistan is expected to change over time. Accordingly, the
sensitivity analysis prepared as of June 30, 2024 is not necessarily indicative of the impact on
the Fund's net assets of fulure movements in inlerest rates.

Yield / interest rale sensitivity position for on-balance sheet financial instruments is based on
the earlier ol contractual repricing or maturity date and for off-balance sheet instruments is

based on the setilement date.

The Fund's interest rate sensitivity related to linancial assets and financial habilities as at June
30, 2024 can be determined as lollows:
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2024
Exposed to yicld 7 Intercest rate risk Mot cxposed
Yicld [ effective LUp to More than three o wield /
Tatal
interest rate (%) | three | months andup | M T AR 4 erest rate
manihs o One year e year risk
n-balance sheet financial instrumenis (Hupees in "000)
Financial Asscts
Balances with hanks 19% to 20.5% 154 653 - - 2,790 157,443
Investmicnis
at fair value through profit or loss

- Listed cguity sccuritics - - 365,368 365,308

- Market Treasury Hills S = - -

- Unlistod dobt sccurity - = = =
Dividend and profit receivables - - 2,942 2042
Seourity depogits and other receivable - - - 4. 122 4,122

154,653 - - 375,222 529875
Financial Liabilitdes
Payable to the MOB Investmont Management Limited
- Management Company - - 1,924 1924
Payable to Central Depository Company
of Pakistan Limitcd - Trostee - - 6 96
Payable against purchase of investment - - 2,660 2 660
Payable against redemption of units - - 26 26
Averued and other Hahilitics - - 3,663 3,603
- - B 559 B350
On-balanee sheet gap (a) 154,653 - - A0, 663 521,316
ff-balance sheet financial instroments = - = =
ff-balance sheet gap (b) = o 5 <
Total profit rate sensitivity gap (a+b) 154,653 - -
Cummlative profit rate sensitivity gap 154,653 154 653 154,653
2023
Exposed to Yicld / Imterest rate risk Nt cxposcd
Yield § efTective I_'Ip [T1] AMarc than three to Yield 7
intcrest rate (%) threc moniths and op e Interest rate ol
One YEEF
months 10 oAE year = risk
Um-balance sheet Minancial instruments (Hupoes in "001)
Financial Asscis
Balances with banks 12.75% 1o 19.5% 44 570 - - 2,791 47311
Investmaents
at fair value throogh profit or loss

- Listod equity sccuritics - - - 230 828 230,828

- dMarket Treasury Bills 23% o, 138 - - 0R, 138

- Unlisticd debt scourity - - - - -
Dividend and profit receivables - - - 1,756 1,756
Becarity deposits and other receivahlo - - - 4,122 4.127

112,658 - - 239 497 352,155
Financial Liahilitics
Payable o the MCE Investment Managemaent Limited
- Management Company - - 1,073 1,073
Payahle o Central Depository  Company
of Pakistan Limitod - Trustees = s - 63 hs
Payahic sgainst purchase of investimont = - R 720 8,720
Payable againg redempiion of units - - 216 2l
Acerucd and other labilitics - - - 3,556 3,556
. - - 13,630 13,630
Om-halance shect gap (a) 112 658 225 GET 336 525
(Hi-halance sheet financial instroments - = = - -
(HT-halance sheet gap (b) - = - - -
Total profit rate sensitivity gap (a+b) 112,658
Cumulative profit rate sensitivity gap 112,658 112 658 112,658
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22.1.3 Price risk

Price nisk is the nsk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from profit rate risk or
currency risk) whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial
instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the
market.

The Fund has exposure to equity price risk arising from its investments in equity securities.
The Fund manages its price risk arising from investment in the equity securities by diversifying
its portfolio within the eligible limits prescribed in the Fund's constitutive documents, the
NBFC Regulations and circulars issued by SECP from time to time. The Fund's equity
investments and their fair values exposed to price risk as at the year end are concentrated in the
sectors given in note 5.1.

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the profit for the vear and the unit holders' fund
to an increase or decrease of 5% in the fair values of the Fund’s equity securities. This level of
change is considered to be reasonably possible based on observation of current market
conditions. The sensitivity analysis is based on the Fund's equity securities at each statement of
assets and liabilities date with all other variables held constant.

2024 2023

— {Rupees in "000) —
Investments 18 268 11,541
Income statement 18.268 11.541

22.2 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss
to the Fund by failing to discharge its obligation as it falls due. The table below analyses the
Fund's maximum exposure to credit risk:

2024 2023

Balance || Maximum|| Balance || Maximum
as per || exposure || as per || exposure
statemen|| to credit || statemen|| to eredit

tof risk tof risk
(Rupees in "000)
Balances with banks 157,443 157443 47311 47311
Listed equity securities 365,368 - 230,828 -
Governmenl securnities - - 68,138 -
Dividend and profit receivable 2,942 2942 1,756 1,756
Security deposits and other receivable 4,122 4,122 4,122 4,122

529875 164,507 352,155 53,189
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Diflerence in the balance as per statement of assets and lLabilities and maximum exposure is
due to the fact that investments in equily securities and government securities amounting o Rs.
365.368 mullion (2023: Rs. 230.828 million) and Nil (2023: Rs. 68.138 ) respectively is not
exposed to credit risk.

The analysis below summaries the credit rating quality of the Fund's financial assels as at June
30, 2024 and June 30, 2023:

2024 2023
Bank balances by rating category Yo
AAA 14.13 48.22
AA+ 85.86 51.67
AA- 0.00 0.11
100 100

The analysis below summarizes the credit quality of the Fund's investment in government
sccurities and sukuks as at June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023:

Investments by rating category

Government Securities - 100
AAA i s
- 100

The maximum exposure lo credit risk before any credil enhancement as at June 30, 2024 is the
carrying amount of the [inancial assets except for shares held. None of these assels are
impaired nor past due.

Conceniration of credit risk

Concentration ol credit risk arises when a number of financial instruments or contracts are
entered into with the same counterparty, or where a number of counterparties are engaged in
similar business activilies, or actlivities in the same geographic region, or have similar
economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly
affected by changes in economie, political or other conditions. The Fund mainly deals in equity
securities which are primarily subject to price risk. The Fund's portfolio of other financial
assets are entered into with diverse credit worthy counterparties thereby mitigating any
significant concentration of credit risk.

The Fund's major bank balance is held with one bank. Management believes that such bank 1s a
reputed mstitution and a related party.
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Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations arising
from its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset or such
obligations will have to be settled in a manner disadvantageous to the Fund.

The Fund is exposed to the daily settlement of equity securities and to daily cash redemption
requests on a regular basis. Units are redeecmable at the holders' option based on the Fund’s net
asset value per unit, at the time of redemption, calculated in accordance with the Fund’s
constitutive document and guidelines laid down by the SECP.

The Fund's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that the Fund will
always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due under both normal and stressed
conditions without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Fund's reputation.
The Fund's policy is therefore to invest the majority of its assets in investments that are traded
in an active market and can be readily realised.

In order to manage the Fund's overall liquidity, the Fund also has the option to withhold daily
redemption requests in excess of ten percent of the units in issue and such requests would be
treated as redemption requests qualifying for being processed on the next business day. Such
procedure would continue until the outstanding redemption requests come down to a level
below ten percent of the units then in issue. Further, the Fund also has the ability to suspend
redemptions of units with the approval of the Board of Directors of the Management Company
in extraordinary circumstances.

The table below analyses the Fund's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based
on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts
in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

2024
::r;: More than | More thun Finuncial
Within 1 month | and spto three months| one vesr |Mere than| instruments Tital
three and apto one| and mple | S years | with oo !indl
months year five: years muiurity
{Hupees in "00) -
Financiul liabilitics
Payablc i MCH Investment Managoment
Limited - Manzgement Company 1,924 - - - - - 1.924
Payable o Central Depesatory Company
of Pakistan Lamited - Trustoe L - - - - Ot
Payablc apamst purchnse of investment 2 66l - - - - 2 660
Payable agamsil redemption of units 216 - - - 216
Accrued and other hahlibies 1663 - - - - 1663
K559 - - - - K.539
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023
s More than | More than Financial
- three months| one year |More than) instroments
VR ":::e:m and upto one| sod wpio | 5 years | with oo fxed Total
year five years maiurity
{Rupees in ‘000) -
Fimancial liahilities
Payable to MCB Investiment Management
Limited - Management Company 1,073 - - - . - LO73
Payable to Central Depesitory Compuny
of Pakistan Limited - Trustee 65 - - - - M
Payable against purchase of investment 1720 - - - - &.720
Payable against redemption of units 216 - : - . 26
Acerued and other trabilities 3550 - - - - - 3,356
13,630 - - - - 13,630

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value 15 the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid (o transfer a hability in an
orderly transaction between markel participants at the measurement date. Consequently,
differences can arise between carrying values and the fair value estimates.

Underlying the definition of fair value is the presumption that the Fund is a going concern
without any intention or requirement to curtail matenally the scale of its operations or to
undertake a transaction on adverse terms.

Financial assels which are tradable in an open market are revalued at the market prices
prevailing on the statement of assets and habilities date. The estimated fair value of all other
financial assets and liabilities is considered not Lo be significantly different from the respective
book values.

Fair value hierarchy

International Financial Reporting Standard 13, "Fair Value Measurement' requires the Fund to
classify assels using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in
making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

Level 1: guoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or habilities.

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and

Level 3: impuls for the assels or liability that are not based on observable market data (i.e
unobservable inputs).
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2024
Level 1 || Level2 || Level3 || Total

——(Rupees in "M)}—————

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Listed equity securities 365368 - - 365,368
Government securities

365,368 - - 365,368

2023
Level 1 || Level2 || Level3 || Total

——(Rupees in "000}———

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Listed equity securities 230 828 - - 230,828
CGiovernmeni securilies - 68,138 - 68,138
230828 68,138 - 298 966

UNIT HOLDERS' FUND RISK MANAGEMENT

The unit holders' fund 1s represented by redeemable umits. These units are entitled to dividends
and to payment of therr proportionate share of the Fund's Net Asset Value per unit on the
redemption date. The relevant movements are shown on the "Statement of Movement 1n unit
holders' Fund'.

The Fund has no restnetion on the subscription and redemption of umits. As required under the
NBFC Regulations, every open end scheme shall mamtam fund size (i.e. net assets of the
Fund) of Rs 100 million at all times duning the life of the scheme. The Fund has histoneally
maintained and complied with the requirements of minimum fund size at all tmes.

The Fund's objective when managing unit holders' fund 15 to safeguard its ability to continue as
a going concern so that it can contue to provide returns to the unit holders and to mamtain a
strong base of assets to meet unexpected losses or opportunities.

'In accordance with the risk management policies as stated in note 22, the Fund endeavours to
invest the subscriptions received i appropniate mvestment avenues while mamtaming
sufficient hquidity to meet redemptions, such hquidity being augmented by disposal of
mvestments or short-term borrowings, where necessary.
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PARTICULARS OF INVESTMENT COMMITTEE AND FUND MANAGER

Details of members of the Investment Committee ol the Fund are as [ollows:

5. Experience
No. Mame Designation Cualification i pears

1 Mr. Khawaja Khalil Shah Chief Executive Officer MEBEA 3z

2  Mr. Muhammad Asim Chiel Investment Officer MBA, CFA 21

3 Mr. Awais Abdul Satiar Porifolic Manager Equities MBA, CFA 13

4  Mr. Saad Ahmed Head Of Fixed Income MBA 18

5 Mr. Syed Abid Al Head O Equities MBA 16

6 Mr. Usama Igbal Fund Manager Graduale 20

Syed Abid Ali is the Fund Manager. Details of the other funds being managed by him are as
follows:

- MCB Pakistan Asset Allocation Fund

- Pakistan Pension Fund

- MCB Pakistan Dividend Yield Plan (An allocation plan of MCB Pakistan opportunity fund)
- MCB KPK Govt Employees Pension Fund- Money Market Sub Fund

TOP TEN BROKERS / DEALERS BY PERCENTAGE OF COMMISSION

2024
(Percentage)

..l';.

1  Foundation Secunties (Private) Limited 11%

2 Al Habib Capital Markets Pvt Limited 10%
3 Khadim Ali Shah Bukhari Securities 9%
4  Opuimas Capital Management T%
5 BMA Capital Management Limited 6%
6 EFG Hermes Pakistan Limited 6%
7  ALFA Adhi Securities (Private) Limited 6%
B Ismail Igbal Securities Private Limited 5%
9  Insight Securitics Limited 5%
10 Alfalah Clsa Securities (Private) Limited 5%
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2023
(Percentage)
Yo
1 lIsmail Iqbal Securities (Private) Limited 0 26%
2 Khadim Ali Shah Bukhari Securities 8.58%
3 Foundation Securities ( Private) Limited 27%
4  DIM Secunties (Private) Limited 7.80%
5 Optimas Capital Management 521%
6 IS Global Capital Limited 5.09%
7 EFG Hermes Pakistan Limited 5.04%
8 Topline Secunties Limited 4.82%
9  Akik Capital (Private) Limited 4.59%,
10 AnfHabib Limited 429%
PATTERN OF UNITHOLDING
2024
Number of] Percentage
it Nufnlm' of || Invesiment Inv 1
Units held amount
holders t
{Rupees in "000) %
Individual 2441 26370514 451,295 R6.73
Insurance Companies 1 137,662 2350 045
NBFC l 18,791 in 0.06
Retirement fund 3 417,096 1,138 137
Public Limited Companies 4 109,510 1,874 036
Others 24 3353013 57382 11.03
2474 30.406.586 520,367 100
2023
Number of || Number of || Investment || Percentage
unit holders|| Units held amount || Investment
(Rupees in "000) %
Individual 2253 26,397,978 291,004 8739
Insurance Companies I 124,603 1374 0.41
NBFC 1 17,515 193 0.06
Others 233 3.280,535 36,164 10.86
Retirement Fund 3 386,482 4,260 1.28
2491 30207113 332 995 13
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

28. ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The 189th, 190th, 191th, 192nd, 193rd, 194th, 195th & 196th meeting of the Board of
Directors were held on July 21, 2023, July 26, 2023, September 28, 2023, October 12, 2023,
October 18, 2023, February 02, 2024, Apnl 19, 2024 and April 22, 2024 respectively.
Information in respect of attendance by the directors and other persons in the meetings is given

MNumber of Number of mectin

MNume of persons atiending the . ] % Mectings Nol

mectings Desiguation muchitgs ||[Attendamoal] et || 25V 1| Antemeed
hetd reguired pranied

Mr. Harcon Bashid Chairman 8 . 8 -

Mr. Ahmed Jahangir I¥rector 8 S B -

Syed Savuil Meckal Hussain I¥rector Y 8 7 | 195

Ma. Mavra Adil Khan Dhrector 8 8 6 2 192, 195

Mr. Mubhammead Sagib Saleom Chief Exccutive

(Resigned on October 31, 2023) (Hficer " 2 .

Mr. Fahd Kamal Chinoy [Hrector 8 R 5 i 193,192 195

Mr. Mamear Mushiag L¥rector 8 B B

Mr. Shoaib Mumbz: Drector B b 5 i 192,193,195

Mr.Khawajn Khalil Shah

{Appointed on November 011, Darector 8 3 3 -

20278y

28.1 CORRESPONDING FIGURES

Corresponding figures have also been armmanged and reclassified, wherever necessary, for better

presentation. However, there has been no matenial reclassification to report.

29 GENERAL

Figures have been rounded off to the nearest thousand Rupees unless otherwise stated.
30 DATE OF AUTHORISATION OF ISSUE

These financial statements were authorised for issue on September 25, 2024 by the
Board of Directors of the Management Company.

For MCB Investment Management Limited
(Management Company)

—
— * ,..|':
s 14}1[; MSMW

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer Director
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PATTERN OF UNITS HOLDING BY SIZE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

No. of Unit Holders Unit holdings Total units held
499 A, 001-10,000 46,055

1,357 E. 10,001 = 100,000 31,886,251

528 C. 100,001 - 1000,000 11,177,014

50 D. 1000,001 & Above 15,297,266

2474 30,406,586
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PERFORMANCE TABLE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Total Mot Assets Valoo — . m mllon SI03670 | 3129948 8L 6090 66,6630 AL4,5THT
Mt Assets vobur per il — Ropecs | 1nm 106500 12,0000 10,1500
Clarsry Offer Price 1750 Lz7 10K 122700 [T
Clusing Mepurchase Prce 711 100 10500 12 G000 10,1500
Hephest nllcr prace per TET] TLAK 12.60H00 13,1400 122200
Liwist ollr prace per ant 1046 102l 107400 0. ABDR0 9. 2700
Hiphest Redcmptan prace per umil T R 3200 12500 19500
Luwest Hedemplion pesce per wn [ 105100 10,2500 9 iToN
Destributiuen per wmil — e * 11000 i, 5000 04514

Aserage Anmual Helurn - %

e yoar 1% in {112%) 2514 A Hb

Tans year 751 3.5 5095 1400 {224}

Theea yor 1.3% 512 558 &20 (2.59)

Ml Inommo for the nsar - Ra m o miflon 2273 12603852 {493 TIH) gq_gﬁ,qpi 201207

Dastnbution msde donmg the yiar - Ba m milhiom BT ASMY ]H_‘_I'ﬁ.ﬂ'li 19, 44'H)

Actumulstcd Cagtal Girowth - Baom mellam 1595840 126132 (49:3710) gﬁ_mﬂ:‘ 2070
* Daie of D iritration

o —

Disclaimer

The past performanca is not necessanly indicative of future performance and wnit prces and investments and returms may go down, 85 well a5 up.

609 PAKISTAN CAPITAL MARKET FUND




PROXY ISSUED BY FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

The Board of Directors of MCB Investment Management Limited (the Management Company of
Pakistan Capital Market Fund — PCMF) has an overall responsibility for the implementation off
Proxy Voling Policy and Procedures which is available on Management Company’s websile
(www.mecbfunds.com).

During the financial year ended June 30, 2024, the Management Company on behall of PCMF
participated in eleven (11) shareholders' meetings. The Management Company did not participate
in sharcholders’ meetings in the cases which did not meet the criteria reported in Paragraph No. 8
and 9 of the Proxy Voling Policy and Procedures. Summary of actual proxies voted during the
financial year are as follows:

Resolutions | For Against | Abstain | Reason for Abstaining
Number 90 78 12 | 0 -
(Yoages) 100 87 13 0 -

Detailed information regarding actual proxies voted by the Management Company in respect of
PCMF is available without any charges, upon request, to all Unit Holders.
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MCB INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT LIMITED

Head Office: Znd Floor, Adamjea House, |.|. Chundrigar Road, Karachi
UAN: (+92-21} 111 468 378 (111 INVEST)
URL: www.mebfunds com, Emall: Info@mebfunds.com



